
WESTGATE/BELVEDERE HOMES COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

Monday February 13, 2023 Board Meeting 
1280 N. Congress Ave. Suite 215  

West Palm Beach FL 33409 

    NOTE:  Agenda Summary (Pages 3 - 5) 
 Staff Report (Pages 6 - 12) 

I. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL

II. AGENDA APPROVAL

1. Additions, Deletions, Substitutions to Agenda

2. Adoption of Agenda

III. ADOPTION OF W/BH JANUARY CRA MINUTES (Pages 13 - 19)

IV. PUBLIC COMMENTS

V. DISCLOSURES

     Vi.     CONSENT AGENDA 

VII. REGULAR AGENDA

1. Request of Three-Month Extension for the Danza Group Option
Agreement (Page 20 - 31)

2. Approval and Authorization to Advertise RFP for Westgate and Cherokee
Properties (Pages 32- 44)

3. Approval of Cost Increase for Belvedere Heights Phase II (Page 45 - 50)

4. Approval of Payment to Palm Beach County Engineering Department for
Construction Engineering and Inspection of the Westgate Avenue
Streetscape Project (Page 51- 88)

VIII. REPORTS
A. Staff Reports

1



 
 

 

 

Correspondence  (Pages 89 – 91) 
Attorney’s Report 

B. Committee Reports and Board Comments 
 
1. Administrative/Finance –  
2.   Capital Improvements – Chair, Mr. Daniels 
3.   Land Use –  
4.    Real Estate – Chair, Mr. Kirby 
5.    Marketing –  
6.    Community Affairs –  
7.    Special Events – Chair, Ms. Rufty 
8.    Correspondences        

             
IX.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
ANY PERSON MAKING IMPERTINENT OR SLANDEROUS REMARKS OR WHO 
BECOMES BOISTEROUS WHILE ADDRESSING THE BOARD WILL BE BARRED FROM 
FURTHER AUDIENCE BEFORE THE BOARD BY THE PRESIDING OFFICER, UNLESS 
PERMISSION TO CONTINUE OR AGAIN ADDRESS THE BOARD AS GRANTED BY A 
MAJORITY VOTE OF THE BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT. 
 
IF A PERSON DECIDES TO APPEAL ANY DECISION MADE BY THIS BOARD WITH 
RESPECT TO ANY MATTER CONSIDERED AT THIS MEETING, HE WILL NEED A 
RECORD OF THE PROCEEDING, AND FOR SUCH PURPOSE HE MAY NEED TO ENSURE 
THAT A VERBATIM RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS IS MADE, WHICH RECORD 
INCLUDES THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE UPON WHICH THE APPEAL IS TO BE 
BASED. 
 
ON JUNE 7, 1994, THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS APPROVED 
RESOLUTION NO. 94-693, KNOWN AS THE CODE OF ETHICS.  UNDER SECTION 11, IT 
IS REQUIRED THAT PAID AND UNPAID LOBBYISTS REGISTER.  PLEASE REFER TO 
SECTONS 11.01 AND 11.02 IN THE CODE OF ETHICS FOR REGISTRATION SPECIFICS.  
FOR YOUR USE, REGISTRATION FORMS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE CRA’S 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT. 
 
 
 

2



 
 

WCRA Board Meeting                         
February 13, 2023 

AGENDA ITEMS 
Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Board Meeting 

In Person and Via Zoom 
February 13, 2023 

 
REGULAR AGENDA  

 

1. Request of a Three-Month Extension for the Danza Group Option Agreement 
 

A. Background and Summary: The CRA Board executed an Agreement with the Danza 
Group on February 24, 2021. The Agreement provided that the Group had one year 
from the date of the execution of the Agreement to exercise the option to acquire the 
properties from the CRA. This Option Period will expire on February 24, 2022 and was 
extended for another year to February 24, 2023.  
Prior to the expiration of the Option Period, Danza needs to demonstrate to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the WCRA, first, that the Group has cash on hand sufficient 
to acquire and redevelop the property substantially as set forth in the Agreement and 
second, that the Group has obtained from Palm Beach County and other applicable land 
development regulators approvals which allows Danza to develop the project detailed 
in the Option Agreement.   
In 2022, Danza had indicated that they met the first condition. The Group applied to 
Palm Beach County for land development entitlement last year. The application is for a 
mixed-use 46-unit multifamily dwelling and 12,500 sf of commercial space. The 
application has gone through several steps of the approval process. The consultant 
believes that they will receive their approval in another two months. He believes that a 
three-month extension to May 24, 2023, will give them enough time to receive the 
entitlements required by the Option Agreement.  
 

B. Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Board approve a three-month extension 
of the Option Period and the Option Agreement with the Danza Group. 

.  
2. Approval and Authorization to Advertise RFP for Westgate and Cherokee Properties 

 
A. Background and Summary: The Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA is requesting 

development proposals from interested parties for the redevelopment of a site consisting 

of three (3) parcels of land owned by the CRA and two (2) parcels of land which are 

3



 
 

WCRA Board Meeting                         
February 13, 2023 

privately owned. The sale of the CRA properties is being offered as an entire set. The 

Proposers are encouraged to negotiate with the owners of the adjacent lands.  

The CRA-owned lands (Lots C1-C3) total approximately 0.65 acres and are located 

within the western portion of Block 34 as indicated in attached Exhibit A. Lots N1 & N2, 

totaling approximately 0.33 acres, are not owned by the Westgate CRA, but are deemed 

essential to the redevelopment of this block. The CRA may purchase more properties 

before the submission deadline of the RFP. The CRA is seeking proposals that will 

ensure contiguous development.   

The factors that the CRA will use in evaluating proposals include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 

 
1. The qualifications (previous experience and capabilities) and financial capacities of 

the Proposer as they would indicate its ability to complete the project.  Public/private 
partnership is encouraged. 
 

2. The prospects for market and financial feasibility of the proposed project. 
 

3. The level of commitment of financing sources. 
 

4. The potential tax revenues generated by the project. 
 

5. The number of quality, workforce housing units that will be provided.  
 

6. The extent to which the project includes an outreach to the surrounding 
neighborhood in terms of small business development and employment 
opportunities.  
 

7. The number of parking spaces created and their availability for public use. 
  

8. The extent to which the mix of the proposed land uses supports the other land uses 
in the commercial corridor within the redevelopment area. 
 

9. The quality of site planning and building design proposed for the project. 
 

10. Use of minority/women owned businesses as subcontractors or minority/women 
controlled partnerships in the development process.    

 
The following is a proposed schedule for the issuance of the RFP: 

RFP Issuance Date:       February 23, 2023 
 
 
RFP Response Deadline:      March 23, 2023 

4



 
 

WCRA Board Meeting                         
February 13, 2023 

 
 
Review, rank, and selection of top respondents by 
Review Committee no later than:     April 3, 2023 
 
Presentations and selection made by top respondents  
to CRA Board:        April 10, 2023 

 

B. Recommendation: Approve and authorize staff to advertise the RFP for the Westgate 

and Cherokee properties.  
 
3. Approval of Cost Increase for Belvedere Heights Phase II 

 

A. Background and Summary: On March 9, 2021, the CRA entered into an interlocal 
agreement with Palm Beach County through the Water Utility Department to install 
certain utilities in the Belvedere Heights Phase II. Section 3 of the Interlocal Agreement 
stipulates that the CRA should approve any construction costs increase and execute a 
letter of amendment modifying Exhibit B to the interlocal agreement.  
The cost increase is due to driveway removal, restoration, and additional drainage pipe 
as indicated in Exhibit B. The work supplements total $48,871.01.  
 

B. Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Board approve the $48,871.01 
cost increase for the Belvedere Heights Phase II project. 

 

4. Approval of Payment to Palm Beach County Engineering Department for 
Construction Engineering and Inspection of the Westgate Avenue Streetscape 
Project 

 

A. Background and Summary: The Westgate Avenue Streetscape Project is back on 
track. The County has secured a group to provide Construction Engineering and 
Inspection (CEI) for the project. An amount of $811,233.50 has been requested to pay 
for the CEI services. 
 

B. Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Board authorize staff to provide 
$811,233.50 to Palm Beach County to cover CEI cost for the Westgate Avenue Project.  

5



Page | 1 

  
 

BOARD MEETING 
February 13, 2023 

Staff Update on In-House Projects 
 

2023-B Solid Waste Authority Blighted & Distressed Properties Grant Application (SUBMITTED) 
Background: CRA Staff has submitted a grant application to the SWA through its Blighted & Distressed 
Properties Clean-Up Grant Program for funding to demolish the structure at 1304 Seminole Blvd. The 
Program has been modified and will now only cover costs associated with demolition. Lot clearing and 
vegetation removal must be covered by the Agency. The SWA Governing Board will vote to approve 
funding at their February meeting. 
SFWMD Compensating Floodplain Storage Mitigation Bank (ONGOING) 
Background: The CRA is working with Higgins Engineering and SFWMD to formalize a storm water 
storage mitigation/redevelopment credit program using the Dennis Koehler Preserve retention lake for 
redevelopment projects within a certain basin or sub-basin. Higgins Engineering estimates that at least 
30 acre feet could be available to redevelopment projects to offset storage requirements. Some of 
those acre feet have already been pledged to the Greene Apartments and Autumn Ridge projects.  
Website & CRA Logo Redesign/Re-Branding (IN PROCESS) 
Update: the CRA’s new logo is finalized. Staff will begin to use on letterhead and reports. The new 
website structure is built and the creation of new content is underway; it will be launched by the end of 
February 2023.  
Background: the 2017 CRA Redevelopment Plan identified Market Positioning, specifically a “Re-brand 
& Re-boot Westgate” campaign, as a necessary focus area to implement the goals & objectives of the 
Agency. An updated, modern and more functional website, along with a re-branded logo will set the 
stage for a push toward economic development. CRA staff is working with Dang Good Graphics, the 
Agency’s current website administrator/designer on a new website and logo. Staff will seek Board input 
on the working logo proof at the September Board meeting.  
Streetlights for Westgate Estates (IN PROCESS) 
Background: CRA staff is in discussions with FP&L to install street lighting in areas of Westgate Estates 
where there are currently dark areas. This effort is in response to community concerns brought to the 
Agency’s attention in January around an increase in burglaries and vandalism.  
2022 WCRAO/ULDC Amendments (IN PROCESS) 
Update: Staff met with Vice-Mayor Weiss, assistant County administrators, and PZB staff on October 
26th to discuss ways in which the WCRAO may be streamlined to be made more efficient and flexible to 
use, while remaining true to intent. A path forward includes a Comprehensive Plan amendment to be 
initiated early in the new year to better define policies for open space and land development, followed 
by amendments to the WCRAO/ULDC. Staff is re-tooling to address the Mayor’s concerns, but is still 
working on the creation of a waiver table for submittal to Zoning in the first quarter of the new year.  
Update: At their July 2022 meeting, the BCC adopted an amendment to the WCRAO which allows the 
following pertaining to the WCRAO Use Regulations table: 

6



Page | 2 

“The Zoning Director may apply the provisions of Art. 4.B, Use Classification for the underlying zoning 
district, subject to mutual agreement and approval by the WCRA Board”.   
Background: The Zoning Division is moving forward with an amendment to the WCRAO that will not 
only facilitate the approvals for the Hangar project, but also give some ability for flexibility and authority 
to the CRA Board when the WCRAO is in conflict with permitted uses and standards of the underlying 
zoning districts. CRA Staff worked with Zoning to revise Overlay language to allow a warehouse use on 
the site located at 1050 N Congress Ave. concurrent with entitlements for the Hangar project. This 
amendment will follow a separate timeline from the proposed amendments below. 
Update: The following amendments are being targeted to move forward in the 2023 calendar year. Staff 
will present a draft to the Board once the amendments are fully vetted by the County: 
 create a waiver table to provide relief from certain PDRs, supplementary standards and 

architectural guidelines through an administrative waiver process rather than variances  
 dilute Parks & Recreation requirements for open space in the WCRAO, particularly as it applies 

to the construction of 4 or more single family homes 
 clarify that on where formal on street parking is available (ie. Westgate Ave.), it shall be allowed 

to count towards required parking ratios 
 amend Flex Space language to restrict the percentage of industrial uses and increase the 

percentage of commercial uses allowed where projects with a CH FLU utilize flex space  

Background: CRA staff submitted a request letter for amendments to the CRA’s zoning overlay in early 
December 2021 with the optic of adoption by the BCC at the end of 2022. The Zoning Division is under 
new directorship, and the two-round policy for UDLC amendments is replaced by a prioritization scale. 
The CRA will work with County Code Revision staff and County departments to develop amendment 
language for Board review in the coming months. Staff will utilize one of its continuing planning 
consultants to assist; a proposal for planning technical assistance services will be brought to the Board 
in February.  
FY21 TCRPC Brownfields Site Assessment Grant (IN PROCESS) 
Update: Cardno (now Stantec) has completed testing. Results indicate levels of contamination on site 
that are in excess of allowable State limits. Staff will be meeting with Stantec, TCRPC and DHED to 
discuss next steps. 
Cardno has identified that contamination is most concentrated in the northeast corner of the 
Chickamauga site with no groundwater affected, however further assessment is warranted to determine 
the spread and depth of contamination in order to recommend the best path for remediation. Uisng a 
new round of funding through TCRPC, a specific assessment will be completed by Cardno. Next steps 
include: specific testing, a meeting with the DEP to determine scope of clean up, and a determination of 
funding sources for excavation/clean up (TCRPC or PBC DHED). 
Cardno has completed a supplementary soils testing and is preparing a final report for CRA review 
and/or action. Results are targeted to be presented to the CRA Board at their September meeting. 
Testing indicates a high concentration of Benzoapyrene (BaP) in the northwest corner of the property. 
Cardno will determine whether remedial action is warranted. 
Cardno conducted a Phase II assessment in early December. Findings indicate trace amounts of 
contamination (arsenic & BaP) in the soil; the groundwater is said to be clear. CRA Staff is pursuing a 
more thorough soils study through funding available through TCRPC prior to issuing an RFP. Phase I 
ESA findings indicate the need to conduct further assessment of the site to determine if historical 
adjacent uses have negatively impacted the site. The CRA was approved by the TCRPC for a Phase I 
Environmental Assessment on September 9, 2021. Brownfields environmental consultants Cardno, 
completed the Phase I assessment in mid-October 2021.  

7



Page | 3 

On August 25, 2021, CRA staff submitted an application for funding from the TCRPC (Treasure Coast 
Regional Planning Council) Brownfields Program for a Phase I Environmental Assessment for the 
Chickagmauga redevelopment site. Due to historic auto salvage and a dry cleaning use on 
Okeechobee on the site now occupied by Cumberland Farms, there is a likelihood that the site has 
some degree of contamination. The grant would fund a Phase I assessment, and a possible Phase II 
assessment depending upon initial findings. Any remediation timelines and cost to be determined. State 
funding is possible. 
 
Background: The Chickagmauga site consists of 3 parcels, one containing an occupied single family 
dwelling, purchased by the CRA in December 2019 for $550,000. The site is located directly south of 
Spencer Square facing the Dennis Koehler Preserve to the south. The site is earmarked for the CRA 
for mixed use or high density residential redevelopment. CRA staff anticipates issuing an RFP in FY22. 

Community Garden/Greenmarket (ONGOING) 
Update: The Plat is recorded and corner clip dedications are complete. CRA staff can begin planning 
for the construction of a permanent structure. Staff applied for a USDA Urban Agriculture grant in 21/22 
to assist with the construction of the structure and to facilitate enhanced programming at the farm, but 
was not awarded the grant. CRA staff is looking at the viability of re-applying in FY 22/23. 
Electricity, an irrigation pump and an irrigation system have been installed. Staff is working on 
developing a design and securing a contractor for site improvements and installation of a pre-
manufactured structure to act as a permanent greenmarket.  
Background: Staff engaged Schmidt-Nichols (SN) to prepare a site plan for the community garden and 
the green market. The CRA initiated new regulations to allow green markets to operate as an 
accessory to community gardens without having to buffer surrounding residential uses with an opaque 
wall and 20 ft landscape buffer. The site plan includes an enclosed structure with a bathroom and a 
walk-in cooler. The community garden/greenmarket received site plan approval in March 2018.  

CRA staff proposed amendment language, adopted in the 2018-02 Round, to eliminate the community 
garden use from landscaping requirements, and modified code language regarding hours of operation 
and building size and placement for the accessory greenmarket use. Schmidt Nichols submitted an 
administrative amendment (ZAR) to remove the landscape buffers and ROW utility easement. The ZAR 
was approved in April 2019. The permits have been approved to operate the community garden. The 
electrician and plumbing contractors are working with the utility companies. The CRA will begin to work 
with a contractor/architect to design the greenmarket structure and prepare plans to submit for building 
permit.  

PBC Transportation Planning Agency (TPA) Transportation Alternatives (TAP) & Local 
Initiatives (LI) Grants 

FY20 Cherry Road Pedestrian & Safety Improvements (FUNDED, DESIGNED) 
Update: PBC Engineering has expressed concerns regarding crosswalks on the approved cross 
section that requires resolution in order for the project to move forward on the TPA grant timeline.  
The Cherry Road project received approval for funding by the TPA Governing Board in July, 2020. The 
CRA engaged consultants, WGI to refine the Cherry Rd. improvements project for TPA TAP grant 
application submittal in the 2020 cycle. CRA Staff and WGI worked with Engineering on improving the 
proposed typical sections. The project proposes reduced with travel lanes for traffic calming, new 
sidewalks on the south side of Cherry Rd east and west of the bridge to the intersection of Country 
Club Rd., a new 12’ shared multi-use path on the north side of the corridor, new crosswalks, pedestrian 
scale lighting, and shade trees where allowed. The total project cost is $1.96 million. The grant 

8



Page | 4 

reimburses $1 million. The application was submitted to the TPA on February 28, 2020.  
 
FY19 and Seminole Blvd. Complete Streets (FUNDED/INITIATED) 
Update: The project is fully designed, with the LAP agreement on hold until February 2023 pending 
funding. 
PBC Engineering has requested administration and design fees to initiate the project. The County will 
issue an RFP for engineering design in early 2022. 
The Transportation Planning Agency Governing Board approved funding for the Seminole Blvd project 
at their July 18th meeting. The Seminole project was ranked #1. Staff and WGI presented the projects to 
FDOT and BTPAC in early April; Seminole was ranked #1 and Cherry Rd was #4. The Board 
recommended that the Seminole Blvd project should be prioritized since it ranked higher and is a larger 
project.  
Background: The Board approved a two-fold work assignment with WGI in November 2018 to prepare 
a feasibility analysis to identify the best two projects to submit to the TPA for the 2019 Transportation 
Alternatives Program (TAP) cycle. Based on findings presented by WGI, the Board selected the 
following project:  
Seminole Blvd Complete Streets which expands existing sidewalks to 10-12 ft. multi-use paths on each 
side of the roadway, adds high visibility crosswalks at each intersection, adds pedestrian scale lighting, 
and shade trees. The project boundaries are from Okeechobee Blvd. to Oswego Ave. Total 
construction cost is $1,622,979. The grant reimburses $1 million. 
TAP grant projects are designed and constructed within 3 years of prioritized funding. Design will begin 
in 2020 with construction completion in 2022. 
FY18 – Westgate Avenue Corridor Complete Streets (FUNDING SECURED, PROJECT TO 
PROCEED)  
Update: Following an RFP process, a loan has been secured. A new schedule for construction was 
provided by County Engineering at the end of January with agreement from the Palm Beach TPA and 
FDoT. The ITB is to be issued on 4/23/23. Notice to proceed is targeted for 10/20/23. Construction is to 
be completed by 2/28/25. 
Staff is consulting with bond counsel through the Florida League of Cities to acquire a loan for the 
Westgate Avenue and Seminole Blvd. projects. Bond counsel is requiring that the Agency receive 
approval from its governing body (BCC) to secure the loan. The BCC adopted a Resolution on 
September 13, 2022, to authorize an $11,000,000 loan. Five banks have submitted a proposal to the 
bond counsel to provide the funding. The schedule laid out in the LAP agreement between County 
Engineering and FDOT has now been impacted due to the delay incurred to secure upfront financing. A 
request has been made to FDOT through the PBC TPA for a time extension. We await a response. 
The bid process for the project was put on hold by County Engineering. The County is requiring that the 
total construction cost of the project be given to the County in advance of entering into a contract with a 
contractor; the CRA has been given a time extension to try to accommodate this requirement.  
PBC Engineering issued an Invitation to Bid on February 20th. Bid opening was scheduled for March 
29th.  
American Consulting Engineers (ACE) has completed design plans to 100% constructability. PBC 
Engineering Streetscape section is reviewing. The design engineers have finished phase 2 of the 
constructability plans. Due to the number of driveways and regulations for safe sight lines, the CRA 
must now work with certain owners to get approval to close access from Westgate where side and rear 
access is available in an effort to add more landscaping and on-street parking. The project cost 

9



Page | 5 

estimate is now $4,752,321 with $2,324,351 in participating costs funded by FDOT. The CRA is 
responsible for PBC Engineering administrative, design and CEI costs.  
Design is moving forward without a roundabout. CRA Staff met with County Roadway Production and 
the project consulting engineers in February to discuss the design, scope and timeline of the project. 
The CRA has been asked to provide input on lighting design and landscaping.  
A County Selection Committee met in November 2019 and selected American Consulting Engineers of 
Florida (ACE) to design the project. CRA staff was in attendance for the presentations and scoring. The 
County Engineering Department had shortlisted three firms for the project, including CRA consultants 
WGI, however, volume of previous work was an overriding factor in selection.  
Background Information: Staff engaged WGI to coordinate the preparation of travel demand forecast 
modelling to determine the impact of reducing Westgate Ave from 5 lanes to 3 lanes utilizing a road diet 
approach. WGI facilitated communication with PBC TPA and Engineering to determine the best design 
alternative, held a public input meeting, and drafted the final design for the project be used to obtain 
funding. WGI met with the Engineering Department to present the lane elimination plan. County staff is 
in support of the lane reduction from Wabasso to Congress, but they are not in support of the elevated 
landscape median. An alternative design, which allows for 3 lanes (2 thru lanes and one center turn 
lane), bike lanes, and floating landscape islands on both sides of the ROW alternating with on street 
parking was presented to County Engineering for approval and support. With assistance from WGI, the 
LI grant application was submitted on March 2, 2018.  CRA staff is working with County Engineering 
and Administration to design and administer all 3 of the TPA grant projects. 
The TPA Governing Board voted to adopt the TPA List of Priority Projects for the LRTP FY 2020-2024 
at their September 20, 2018 meeting. Projects that met TPA and FDOT eligibility requirements were 
ranked by internal advisory boards, committees and TPA Staff to be forwarded the Governing Board. 
The Westgate Avenue Complete Streets project was ranked #1 of 6 entries to receive Local Initiatives 
Program funding. This project has been moved up the timeline due to the inability of other funded 
projects to proceed. Design can start in July 2019 for FY 2019/20. Construction funding will be 
approved after the design is completed. 
 
FY18 – Phase II Belvedere Heights Streetlights & Sidewalks AND Water Mains/Drainage (PHII BH 
STREETLIGHTS & SIDEWALKS IN PROCESS & WATER MAINS & DRAINAGE COMPLETE) 
Update: Phase II of the streetlights & sidewalks project is 100% complete! The contractor has 
completed construction of Phase II of the water mains and drainage project. Phase II of the TPA 
sidewalks and streetlights project began in the spring of 2022. 
The BCC is considering an agenda item on June 16th for the design of this second phase. The TPA 
Governing Board voted to adopt the TPA List of Priority Projects for the LRTP FY 2020-2024 at their 
September 20, 2018 meeting. Projects that met TPA and FDOT eligibility requirements were ranked by 
internal advisory boards, committees and TPA Staff to be forwarded the Governing Board. Phase II of 
the Belvedere Heights Streetlights and Sidewalks project was ranked #3 of 4. This project has been 
moved up the timeline due to the inability of other funded projects to proceed. Design can start in July 
2019. Construction funding will be approved after the design is completed. The CRA needs to execute 
an MOU and provide upfront funding to the County for design. 
Background Information: CRA staff prepared and submitted a Transportation Alternatives Program 
(TAP) grant application for Phase II – Wellington Road to Bridgeman Road, of the Belvedere Heights 
Neighborhood for sidewalks and streetlights to PBC TPA in March 2018. 

FY17 – Phase I Belvedere Heights Streetlights & Sidewalks AND Water Mains/Drainage Project 
(COMPLETE) 

10



Page | 6 

Update: The water main and drainage work is complete. Phase I of the TPA grant project for sidewalks 
and streetlights project is 100% complete. The streetlights are not lit pending installation of a 
transformer. This phasing allowed the water main and drainage construction to take place prior to the 
work of the TPA grants, keeping the TPA projects on the timeline set by the FDOT.  
The neighborhood has experienced chronic poor drainage and the water mains have reached the end 
of their useable life and must be replaced. Mock Roos, the contractor for the sidewalks/streetlights 
project requested that PBC Water Utilities do the water main work prior to the installation of sidewalks 
and they have agreed; Mock Roos will also do this work. Engenuity Group has been working on a 
drainage design for the area and a request has been made for Water Utilities in collaboration with 
Engineering to do this work ahead of sidewalk installation as well. Water main replacement will occur 
January thru March, 2021 with drainage in March thru July, 2021. Construction on the sidewalks project 
is set to begin in August 2021.  
Engineers are preparing the second part of the design. The Engineering Department has engaged 
several consultants through a CRA/County MOU to implement the project. Design is almost completed. 
The County is currently reaching out to the residents. 
Background Information: An application was submitted to the TPA Transportation Alternatives Grant to 
request almost $1 Million to install sidewalks and streetlights in Belvedere Heights in 2017. The funds 
will not be available until 2019. The BCC approved Engineering Department sponsorship of the project 
via resolution in May 2018. 

CRA Strategic Plan (ONGOING – TO BE REVISITED IN FY22-23) 
CRA staff will revisit work on a strategic plan that will implement the goals and objectives of the 
amended Redevelopment Plan. A strategic plan will outline the specific tasks, timeline and budget 
required for redevelopment activities over the next 5 years. It can also serve as a platform for the CRA 
to refine its vision and mission statement in a way that is current with its shifting priorities. Staff has 
received some initial input from Board members.  

Streetlights for Belvedere Homes (ONGOING) 
The Engineering Department is partnering with Office and Community Revitalization to install streetlight 
in Belvedere Homes. An initial meeting has been held. Citizens are currently gathering signatures and 
easement authorization from residents and property owners. 

11



Page | 7 

Private Redevelopment Projects 
Below is list of private development projects that are in the entitlements or the permitting process:   
Projects Address Status 
Airport Apartments 1699-1705 N. 

Congress Ave 
 January 2022 Board meeting – in Zoning 
 4-stories, 38-unit market rate MF rental development 

Westgate Terrace (Danza 
Group) 

2636 Westgate Ave  In Zoning – some issues with project funding 
 4 stories, 44 units – professional office/medical office 

use on ground floor 
 CRA-owned parcels, developed with NMTC fed grant 

in partnership with CRA/PBD DHED 
Greene Industrial (aka 
McDonald Industrial) 

1501 N. Florida 
Mango Rd. 

 5/9/22 CRA Board meeting 
 DRO site plan amendment for a new 62,011 sf office-

warehouse use; site to be reconfigured to eliminate 
all other buildings, distribution facility use to be 
discontinued 

The Hangar & Airfield 
Business Park 

1050 N. Congress 
Ave. (former PBKC 
collateral property) 

 BCC approval in August 2022 – in DROE for arch. 
 2/14/22 CRA Board meeting 
 60,000+ sf of privately owned warehouse units (The 

Hangar) with collocated additional warehouse, 
vehicle sales/repair, community and assembly 
membership non-profit space 

EZ Express Carwash 1098 N. Military Trail 
(Walmart MUPD) 

 In Zoning – review for ABN of restaurant use & DRO 
approval for a 2,700 sf automatic carwash 

Cherry Road Plaza 
MUPD 

Cherry Rd  ZC approval in March 
 In Zoning – review for ABN, DOA, Variances, DRO 

approval for a 161,000 sf (phased) self-service 
storage facility  

Murphy Express Gas 
Station/C-store 

1010 Military Trail 
(Walmart MUPD) 

 DROE approval February 
 demolish vacant Walgreens, relocate/ expand 

existing Murphy Express/add c-store 
Palm Key Apartments  Cherokee Ave  DRO approval in March 

 7 townhome-style multifamily units on .46 ac – 
utilizing CRA density bonus units 

Museo Vault self-service 
storage (now Uovo Art) 

4200 Westgate Ave  In construction 
 BCC approval of ABN- Sept. ‘21 meeting 
 proposing a 4-story, 50,000 sf fine art and antique 

storage facility 
Autumn Ridge LITC 
mixed use  

Congress Ave  In permitting with SFWMD 
 DRO approval – LITC funded, will move forward with 

permitting  
 106 units by Landmark Construction, 90% of units at 

or below 60% of AMI – 77 DBP units, TCEA and 
rezoning from RM to CG 

Congress Avenue - 
Greene Apartments 

1710 N. Congress Ave  In construction 
 198 units (138 density bonus units from WCRA pool; 

55 income restricted) 
 SFWMD permit utilizes acre feet from the Preserve 

 

12



WESTGATE/BELVEDERE HOMES COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
1280 N. CONGRESS AVE., SUITE 215, WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 

MINUTES OF THE MONTHLY MEETING 
January 9, 2023 

 
I.  CALL TO ORDER (IN PERSON MEETING BROADCASTED ON ZOOM PLATFORM) 
  

Mr. Daniels, the Board Chair, called the meeting to order at 5:14p.m. The roll was called 
by Ms. Bui. 
 

  Present:        Ronald L. Daniels 
Joanne Rufty 
Ralph Lewis  

    Ruth Haggerty  
  

 Absent:  Joseph Kirby 
Enol Gilles 

     
 Staff Present: Elizée Michel, Executive Director 
    Denise Pennell, Senior Planner 
    Mai Bui, Redevelopment Specialist/Administrative Assistant 
    Thomas J. Baird, Esq., General Counsel  
 
 Absent:  Carmen Geraine, Bookkeeper 
   

Others Present: Dorritt Miller, Assistant County Administrator, Andrea Troutman (All 
Virtually Via Zoom)  

      
II.  AGENDA APPROVAL 
 

1. Additions, Deletions, Substitutions to Agenda 
 
- No Additions, Deletions, Substitutions to Agenda 

 
2. Adoption of Agenda 

 
- It was moved by Ms. Rufty and seconded by Ms. Haggerty to adopt the 

Agenda. Motion carried (4-0) 
 

III.  ADOPTION OF W/BH CRA MINUTES 
 

- It was moved by Ms. Haggerty and seconded by Ms. Rufty to adopt the 
November 14, 2022 minutes.  Motion carried (4-0) 

 

13



Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Minutes of the Monthly Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Page 2 
 
IV.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
  

- No Public Comment 
 
V. DISCLOSURES   
 

- No Disclosures 
 

VI.      CONSENT AGENDA 
 

- No Consent Agenda 
 

 
VII.  REGULAR AGENDA 
 

1. CRA Recommendation for DRO Approval of a 38-unit Multifamily Rental 
Development (Airport Apartments) located at 1699-1705 N. Congress Avenue. 
 
Ms. Pennell, Mr. Cameron, and Mr. Josh Nichols from Schmidt Nichols presented the 
item to the Board.  
 
E&M Realty Corp, based in Jupiter, is the property owner and developer. The Airport 
Apartments is a 38-unit multifamily market rate rental development comprised of 6 
efficiency units, 9 1-bedroom, 18 2-bedroom, and 5 3-bedroom units in a 4-story 
building, for a total GFA of 48,042 sf under air. A combined 2nd floor indoor/outdoor 
recreation space, as well as a ground floor recreation area, are also included as a 
project amenity. To streamline entitlements, avoid tripping the development and public 
hearing approvals thresholds, and to achieve the desired density, the applicant is 
requesting 27 WCRAO density bonus units. These additional units may be approved by 
the DRO if the increase does not exceed 22 dwelling units per acre; this project is 
requesting an additional density of 19.2 du/ac. 
 

The +/- 1.4-acre site is located on the west side of Congress Avenue south of Westgate 
Avenue and to the north of Cherry Rd. The site consists of 4 contiguous parcels 
bordered by the LWDD L-2 canal to the south and the LWDD E-3 ½ canal to the west. 
The site is zoned Commercial General (CG), with a Commercial High with an underlying 
residential future land use designation of 8 du/acre (CH/8), and is vacant with no current 
or previous entitlements. The site is located within the boundaries of the Urban General 
(UG) Sub-area of the WCRAO, and is within the U/S Tier as well as in the Revitalization 
and Redevelopment Infill Overlay (RRIO), Urban Redevelopment Area Overlay (URAO), 
and the CCRT area. While the total gross site area is 1.4-acres, the buildable area is 

14



Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Minutes of the Monthly Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Page 3 
 

reduced to 1.25-acres due to canal ROW dedication requirements by LWDD including 
the entire southernmost parcel which is 33 ft. in width, as well as a 19 ft. wide exclusive 
easement along the entire western portion of the site. Palm Beach County roadway 
requires a 20 ft. ROW dedication along Congress Avenue.  

The development will be 4 stories comprised of 38 total dwelling units divided into 6 
studios, 9 one-bedrooms, 18 two-bedrooms, 5 three-bedrooms. It will have 5,870 sf of 
recreational space, 59 parking spaces out of 69 required, subject to DRO approval of 
15% reduction waiver. Ten percent of the site will be dedicated to LWDD for easements. 

The applicant proposes to develop a 38-unit multifamily rental development on a +/- 1.4-
acre site located at 1699-1705 N. Congress Ave. The subject application requests a 
recommendation of approval from the Westgate CRA Board for the proposed 
development pursuant to include the following: 

1) An allocation of 27 units from the unit pool of WCRAO Density Bonus Program, 
provided the project demonstrates that the criteria for obtaining WCRAO density 
bonus units has been met;  

2) An allocation of 256 trips per day, and less than 21 peak hour trips from the 
WCRAO Transportation Concurrency Exception Area (TCEA) trips pool; and, 

3) DRO Site Plan approval. 

To achieve the 38 units needed for this project, 27 units from the CRA’s density bonus 
pool have been requested. The 1.4-acre site has a permitted future land use density of 
only 8 dwelling units per acre which is a total of 11 units by right. Additional residential 
density from the CRA’s bonus pool increases the density by 27 dwelling units to make 
27 du/acre.  

With a total of 38 units, the Airport Apartments project is required to set aside 8 units to 
meet this requirement. The following breaks down the WCRAO DBP workforce income 
category requirements: 

• a minimum of 10%, up to a maximum of 40%, of units are required to be 
restricted at the WHP Low Income category (60%-80% MFI) – the developer will 
opt to set aside at least 1 unit in this category 

• a minimum of 10% are required to be restricted at the WHP Moderate 1 Income 
category (>80-100% MFI) – the developer will opt to set aside at least 1 unit in 
this category 
 

The proposed use and site plan is consistent with the CRA’s Redevelopment Plan, the 
WCRA Zoning Overlay, and with the goals, objectives and policies of the 

15



Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Minutes of the Monthly Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Page 4 
 

Comprehensive Plan, particularly the Provision of Affordable Housing outlined in the 
Housing Element. The project will be beneficial to the community, will enhance the 
character of the Congress Avenue corridor by developing vacant land, and will provide 
much needed workforce housing units. 

Staff recommends the Board approval of a 38-unit multifamily rental development on a 
+/- 1.4-acre site located at 1699-1705 N. Congress Ave. The subject application 
requests a recommendation of approval from the Westgate CRA Board for the proposed 
development pursuant to include the following: 

1) An allocation of 27 units from the unit pool of WCRAO Density Bonus Program, 
provided the project demonstrates that the criteria for obtaining WCRAO density 
bonus units has been met;  

2) An allocation of 256 trips per day, less than 21 pm peak hour trips from the 
WCRAO Transportation Concurrency Exception Area (TCEA) trips pool; and, 

3) DRO Site Plan approval. 

Ms. Pennell advised the Board that there was a slight revision to the plan after it was 
reviewed by staff. The number of parking spaces to be provided on site was 
reduced.  The applicant needs to add to their request a type one waiver for dropping 
below the required number of parking spaces.  

 
Board member Discussions:  
 
Mr. Lewis inquired about the exact location of the site. The site is located on Congress 
Avenue north of the Belvedere Home Baptist Church on the north side of the L-2 Canal. 
Ms. Rufty and Mr. Daniels added that it is the empty lot south of the Aldrich Tool Rental 
store.  
Ms. Haggerty found that the proposed building elevations look good and asked what 
type of construction they will use.  
Mr. Cameron responded it will be a concrete block type. 
Ms. Rufty agreed that it is a nice-looking building. 
A request of the type one waiver was added to the request.    
Mr. Daniels asked what is located immediately to the west side of the site. 
Ms. Pennell responded that it is a Lake Worth Drainage District canal. 
Mr. Rufty added on the west side of the canal are properties belonging to the Westgate 
Tabernacle. 
Mr. Daniels asked about the use of the properties located south of the Westgate 
Tabernacle Church.  
Mr. Cameron responded that these lots are used as parking spaces for the church. 

16



Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Minutes of the Monthly Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Page 5 
 

Mr. Daniels questioned whether the units were looking directly at someone’s backyard. 
Mr. Cameron clarified that the building pushes towards Congress Avenue. On the west 
side of the building there is a whole parking lot between the building and the canal. He 
added that there will also be landscaping to and additional canal easement as a buffer 
to the neighbors.  
Mr. Lewis commented that he doesn’t find anything wrong with the building, but 
questions whether that is the direction we want to pursue for Congress Avenue. He 
stated that rental housing is all we have right now. He advises that we need to balance 
the residential with more commercial uses.  
Ms. Pennell added that this project will be a market rate project except for the workforce 
housing required units, as 20% (or 8) of the units will be workforce housing, and the rest 
will be market rate. We have already seen three residential developments alongside 
Congress Avenue. The plan does want to see a mix of uses, but we are seeing the 
demand for residential overriding commercial uses.  
Mr. Lewis stated that he knows and sees those demands, but we don’t have to be the 
only one stuck with those demands. 
Mr. Daniels offered that this lot, if used for residential, will complement the commercial 
uses we have across the street.   
Mr. Michel commented that staff has reviewed other type of uses for this site, like retail 
and gas station, but these uses couldn’t fit on the site due to the fact it is difficult to 
locate theses uses on a second floor leaving the first floor for parking like this 
development is proposing.  
Mr. Lewis agreed that a gas station is not appropriate for the site. 
Mr. Michel clarifies that there are some other commercial uses around near that lot. 

It was moved by Ms. Haggerty and seconded by Ms. Rufty to approve the 
requests of the applicants including the type one waiver. The motion passed 
unanimously (4-0) 

2. Authorization to Issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) for the Redevelopment of 
CRA-Owned Parcels at 2557 Westgate Avenue & Cherokee Avenue  

Mr. Michel introduced the item. The CRA purchased two parcels located at 2557 
Westgate Avenue in 2004 to hold for redevelopment. These parcels are immediately 
adjacent to the Santos C-Store located on the corner of Westgate Avenue and Osceola 
Drive. A third parcel, located on Cherokee Avenue was purchased by the CRA in 2021. 
Two other parcels, not owned by the CRA, complete the redevelopment assemblage. 
All five parcels are currently vacant.   

Interest in developing the land for residential and commercial uses has been robust. 
Staff requests Board approval to make a public offering by issuing an RFP for the 

17



Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Minutes of the Monthly Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Page 6 
 

redevelopment of the parcels commensurate with the vision of the Westgate Avenue 
corridor to encourage mixed use. Staff anticipates that the RFP will be issued within the 
first two months of 2023. Following the closure of the RFP response window, Staff will 
assess responses and recommend a redevelopment project to the Board for approval. 

Staff recommends that the Board authorize staff to prepare and issue a Request for 
Proposals for the redevelopment of CRA-owned parcels at 2557 Westgate Avenue & 
Cherokee Avenue. 

Board members’ comments: 

Ms. Rufty asked if one of the parcel was on Cherokee. 

Mr. Michel responded yes two are on Westgate Avenue and one faces Cherokee 

Avenue. 

Ms. Rufty said that it is a good plan to seek a developer for these lots.  

Mr. Michel added that the staff is seeking to issue an RFP now because it does not 

seem that we can purchase any more properties in this area.  We have spoken to the 

adjacent property owners, but they are not willing to sell.  It is a good time to put it up for 

an RFP so any interested developers can submit a proposal for the lots.  

Mr. Lewis asked about the size of the combined properties.  

Mr. Michel estimated that all of it is approximately an acre. 

Mr. Daniels asked what timeframe is being considered for the RFP.  

Mr. Michel responded we are trying to bring something back to the Board by April for 

approval. There are some developers who are interested in mixed-use or commercial or 

commercial development for the site.  

Mr. Lewis asked if the lots were zoned commercial or residential. 

Mr. Michel believed that the Westgate lots are commercial. If the other lot is not 

commercial, it will not be difficult to rezone it to commercial.  

It was moved by Ms. Rufty and seconded by Ms. Haggerty to approve staff to 
prepare and issue a Request for Proposals for the redevelopment of CRA-owned 
parcels at 2557 Westgate Avenue & Cherokee Avenue. The motion passed 
unanimously (4-0) 

3. Approval of 2023 Westgate CRA Board Meeting Calendar 
 

18



Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA Minutes of the Monthly Meeting 
January 9, 2023 
Page 7 
 

Mr. Michel introduced the item. The 2023 CRA Board Meeting calendar is submitted for 
approval. There is a holiday on October 9, 2023. The October meeting can be moved to 
October 2, 2023.   
 
Staff requests the Board to approve the 2023 CRA Board Meeting calendar. 
 
It was moved by Ms. Haggerty and seconded by Ms. Rufty to approve the 2023 
CRA Board Meeting Calendar. The motion passed unanimously (4-0) 

VIII.   STAFF REPORTS 
 

Final TIF is the amount of 3.4 million. One million of that will be used for debt service for 
the loan. 

Belvedere Heights Phase II nears completion.  Lights were turned on before Christmas.  

Staff submitted another Solid Waste Authority Blighted and Distressed Property grant for 
the demolition of 1304 Seminole Blvd. 

WCRA Logo has been finalized. 

Staff is working with County Engineering on plans to issue an RFP for the repurposing of 
Westgate Avenue.  The County is waiting to hear from DOT before issuing a request for 
construction bids. 

Motown At The Park is on 2/10/23 from 5:00p.m. to 9:00p.m. 

IX.     AJOURNMENT 
 

It was moved by Ms. Rufty and seconded by Mr. Lewis to adjourn the meeting. The 
meeting adjourned at 6:07p.m. 
 
_____________________________________ Administrative Assistant, Westgate CRA 
                    Mai Bui  

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



 
 

  
 Page | 1  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

I. INVITATION 
 

The Westgate/Belvedere Homes Community Redevelopment Agency (“Westgate 
CRA” or “CRA”) hereby requests development proposals from interested private parties 
for the redevelopment of a site that consists of three (3) parcels of land owned by the 
CRA, and two (2) parcels of land which are privately owned. The sale of the CRA 
properties is being offered as an entire set. The Proposers are encouraged to negotiate 
with the owners of the adjacent lands. The redevelopment site is located in the Westgate 
Community Redevelopment Area and is bordered by Westgate Avenue to the south and 
Cherokee Avenue to the north. 
   
The CRA-owned lands (Lots C1-C3) total approximately 0.65 acres and are located within 
the western portion of Block 34 as indicated in attached Exhibit A. Lots N1 & N2, totaling 
approximately 0.33 acres, are not owned by the Westgate CRA, but are deemed essential 
to the redevelopment of this block. The CRA may purchase more properties before the 
submission deadline of the RFP. The CRA is seeking proposals that will ensure 
contiguous development.   
 
The Westgate CRA collaborates with private sector business, property owners, 
developers and others to expand investment opportunities in the CRA district that 
implement the CRA’s Community Redevelopment Plan. The CRA seeks to promote the 
welfare of the residents, property and business owners, and other stakeholders within the 
CRA by encouraging development opportunities that expand the tax base, create jobs, 
enhance the urban design and add to the quality of life.  The fundamental goal is to 
position Westgate Avenue as a mixed-use neighborhood commercial destination of a 
quality that not only serves the needs of the adjacent resident population, but also is 
attractive to the downtown West Palm Beach and unincorporated County employment 
base and those who visit the area.  Redeveloped sites should help invigorate the 
Westgate Avenue corridor, highlighting its historical heritage, adding new compatible uses 
that help create an identifiable sense of place as it fosters housing and/or employment 
opportunities, improves access, increases the availability of goods and services, and 
helps create an environment that will attract other private investment capital. 
 
The Westgate CRA is seeking proposals that demonstrate creativity in addressing 
neighborhood compatibility, street frontage, pedestrian activity, quality design, and quality 
materials in construction.  Factors that the CRA will use in evaluating the proposals 
include, but are not limited to, the Proposer’s experience and financing capabilities, the 
reduction or elimination of slum and blight in the Westgate Avenue Corridor, the number 
of parking spaces being proposed for use by the public and for the proposed project, the 
affordability of the housing units created (workforce housing), the number of new jobs 

32



 
 

  
 Page | 2  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

being created, the quality of planning, urban design, and architecture, and the effect the 
project will have on the CRA’s tax increment revenues.   
 

II. ABOUT THE WESTGATE CRA 
 
 The Westgate/Belvedere Homes Community Redevelopment Agency is vested by the 

State of Florida pursuant to its powers under Florida Statutes, Chapter 163, Part III, and 
the Community Redevelopment Act of 1969, as amended, with the authority to request 
proposals for the redevelopment of an area within its district in order to effectuate 
redevelopment pursuant to the goals and objectives of the CRA’s Redevelopment Plan. 

 
 The Agency exists as distinct legal entity governed by a Board of Commissioners for the 

purpose of eliminating slum and blighted conditions within the proscribed geographic 
boundaries.  The CRA Board is comprised of seven (7) At-large members, appointed by 
the Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners, consisting of residents, property 
or business owners, and/or professionals that are engaged in business in the CRA area.  

 
 Empowered by the Redevelopment Act to undertake a broad range of activities designed 

to eliminate slum and blighted conditions, the CRA has certain powers including the power 
to buy, sell, assemble, hold, or dispose of property, and has the authority to issue 
redevelopment bonds and receive incremental ad valorem tax revenues from designated 
taxing authorities in order to fund its activities.   

 
 The CRA is one of the best remaining areas in unincorporated Palm Beach County for 

successful urban infill and redevelopment. It is within a five-mile radius of the West Palm 
Beach International Airport, downtown West Palm Beach and City Place, major 
thoroughfares, and employment and entertainment centers. The CRA has upgraded a 
majority of the physical infrastructure within its boundaries such as, roadways, drainage 
and sanitary sewer. An amended Redevelopment Plan was adopted by Palm Beach 
County Board of Commissioners in 2017 that extended the life of the CRA for another 30 
years. 

 
III. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 
 Proposers should submit five (5) originals (one of which must be unbound), sealed and 

marked on the outside of the package “Redevelopment Proposal for the Westgate and 
Cherokee Avenue Parcels” delivered to the CRA’s offices located at 1280 N. Congress 
Ave. Suite 215, West Palm Beach, FL 33409 on or before 2:00 pm on THURSDAY, 
MARCH 23, 2023. 

 

33



 
 

  
 Page | 3  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

 The CRA’s preference for redevelopment is a mixed-use project that includes a 
combination of commercial/retail, office, and residential that is vertically integrated. 
Prospective respondents may propose to construct public parking in addition to their own 
parking, and such public parking proposals should include any financial conditions of CRA 
participation if any in its development.    

 
A. Description of Request for Proposal 

 
1. Location and Legal Description of the CRA-owned Properties (0.65 acres 
approx.) 

 
a. C1 
 Address: 2557 Westgate Avenue, West Palm Beach, FL 33409 (Vacant) 

Legal Description: West Gate Estates Northern Sec. Lots 35 to 38 Inc., Block 
29 
Property Control No: 00-43-43-30-03-029-0350 (0.26 acres approx.) 

 
b. C2 
 Address: Westgate Avenue, West Palm Beach, FL 33409 (Vacant)  

Legal Description: Westgate Estates Northern Sec. Lots 39 & 40 Block 29  
Property Control No:  00-43-43-30-03-029-0390 (0.13 acres approx.)  

 
c. C3 
 Address: Cherokee Avenue, West Palm Beach, FL 33409 (Vacant)  

Legal Description: Westgate Estates Northern Sec. Lots 12 to 15 Inc., Block 
29   
Property Control No: 00-43-43-30-03-029-0120 (0.26 acre approx.) 

 
2. Location and Legal Description of the non-CRA-owned Properties (0.33 acres 

approx.) 
   

a. N1 
 Address:  2551 Westgate Avenue, West Palm Beach, FL  33409 
 Legal Description:  Westgate Estates Northern Sec., Lots 41, 42 & W 10 feet 

of lot 43, Block 29 
 Property Control No: 00-43-43-30-03-029-0410 (0.16 acres approx.) 

 
b. N2 
 Address:  2549 Westgate Avenue, West Palm Beach, FL 33409   
 Legal Description: Westgate Estates Northern Sec., E 15 feet of lot 43 & lots 

44 & 45, Block 29 

34



 
 

  
 Page | 4  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

 Property Control No: 00-43-43-30-03-029-0431 (0.17 acre approx.) 
 

B.   Land Use Regulations 
 

 The Proposer should consider land uses on the ground floor facing the public streets 
that have the greatest impact for urban retailing. The Westgate Community 
Redevelopment Area Zoning Overlay (“WCRAO”) within Palm Beach County’s 
Unified Land Development Code (“ULDC”) sets use, property development 
regulations and design standards for development in the CRA district that impacts 
building design and site configuration. All proposed development is also subject to 
the entitlement processes and other articles of the ULDC. A copy of permitted uses 
is available upon request. The CRA Redevelopment Plan encourages mixed-use 
development, and Proposers should confer with the Palm Beach County Planning 
and Zoning Department for changes or contemplated changes to the ULDC. The 
Interactive ULDC may be accessed online at http://www.pbcgov.com/uldc/index.htm 

 
  
C.   The Westgate CRA’s Community Redevelopment Plan  

 
 The CRA’s Community Redevelopment Plan was created by ordinance in 1989, and 

last revised in October 2017. Copies of the Plan may be downloaded from the CRA’s 
website at www.westgatecra.org. 

 
D. Survey  

 
 The CRA will provide surveys for the properties it owns.   

 
E. Streets and Right-of-ways 

 
 The properties are generally bounded by Westgate Avenue to the south and 

Cherokee Avenue to the north. Osceola Drive is approximately 100 feet to the west. 
The Proposer should orient the site to Westgate Avenue with access from Cherokee 
Avenue.  

 
F.     Palm Beach County Impact Fees 

 
 Development of the property will be subject to Palm Beach County (PBC) Impact 

Fees.   
 

G.    Appraisal  
 

35

http://www.pbcgov.com/uldc/index.htm
http://www.westgatecra.org/


 
 

  
 Page | 5  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

 The CRA will provide appraisals for the properties which it owns. 
 

H. Bid Bond 
 

 No bid bond required. 
 

I. Deposits  
 

 No deposit is required. 
 

J. Proposal Content 
 

 The following describes certain information that the CRA will require for the proposal.  
The Proposer should submit five (5) original copies, one of which must be unbound, 
which describe the proposed project. 

 
1. The Proposer must state the anticipated use of the redevelopment project.  The 

uses must be currently permissible under Palm Beach County Unified Land 
Development Code (ULDC) and the WCRAO.  Specify the square footage of the 
total project and the breakdown of each land use.  

 
2. If the Proposer anticipates that the predominant use of the project will be 

commercial office, retail or residential, then the Proposer must submit, in order to 
demonstrate that the project is feasible, the anticipated absorption rate for the 
project, the anticipated mix of unit types, the projected rent (in case of a rental 
apartment project or room rate in the case of a hotel project), or the projected 
sales price (in the case of a for-sale project).  If accessory uses include retail 
and/or office, then the Proposer should submit the anticipated absorption, 
projected rents, and types of retail users.  If the Proposer is successful in being 
ranked to negotiate for the acquisition of the property, then the proposer must 
submit, prior to the signing of the Contract for Sale and Purchase, a market study 
justifying the feasibility of the project.  The study must be performed by a 
professional engaged in the business of real estate market research and/or 
commercial real estate appraising. If an appraiser is utilized, then he or she must 
be licensed in the State of Florida. 

 
3. The Proposer must submit an illustrative site plan and one or two elevations of 

the proposed redevelopment project formatted to 11” by 17” for ease of review. 
The site plan should include the location of proposed building(s) and the public 
streets surrounding the site. Parking, sidewalks, and major landscaping features 
should be illustrated. A proposal with a residential component must submit floor 

36



 
 

  
 Page | 6  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

plans and indicate number of proposed dwelling units; a breakdown of 
commercial square footage should also be included.  

 
 

4. The Proposer must state the offering price of the CRA property.  The offering 
should state the terms of payment, the anticipated closing date, and any 
conditions, contingencies, and additional requirements that affect the purchase. 
The Proposal must include an acquisition strategy for the property not owned by 
the CRA but deemed essential in the redevelopment effort. 

 
6. The Proposer must submit a time schedule for the completion of the project 

including the building, parking, and off-site improvements.  If the project is to be 
redeveloped in phases, then the time schedule should reflect the phases. 

 
7. The Proposer must submit a total project cost analysis stating, by category, the 

major elements of the project.  The major cost items shall include, as a minimum, 
land costs, building costs, tenant improvement costs, parking costs, landscaping 
costs, architectural and engineering costs, marketing costs, financing costs, and 
any other significant costs. 

 
8. The Proposer must submit a financing plan which may include a preliminary 

financing commitment letter from a lending institution or other primary source of 
investment financing for the construction of the project.  The financing plan must 
also account for all debt and equity investment required to fund the project.  A 
firm financing commitment from a lending institution or other source of investment 
financing must be provided prior to the closing of the sale of the land and within 
sixty (60) days after the execution of the contract. 

 
9. The Proposer must submit information which permits an understanding of the 

Proposer’s organizational structure, its members, qualifications, and financial 
strength.  The CRA reserves the right to research the background of each 
principal with respect to both credit and police records.  The Proposer must 
submit a signed consent form, attached herein, as part of the proposal.  The 
following information is required in the submission for this paragraph. 

 
a. Description of the legal organizational structure of the Proposer (and its parent 

entity, if it is a subsidiary).  If the Proposer intends to create a separate entity 
solely for the purpose of developing the proposed project, then each partner 
or stockholder or member should describe their respective legal 
organizational structure. 

 

37



 
 

  
 Page | 7  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

b. Identification of the Proposer’s principals, partners, officers, or co-venturers, 
including names, addressed, telephone and fax numbers, and social security 
and federal business identification numbers. 

 
c. Information concerning the relevant experience of the Proposer and key 

project personnel, including a listing and description of past projects.   
 
d. A minimum of three (3) verifiable professional references. 
 
e. In addition, the Proposer must make available for inspection at his or her place 

of business, a current (audited, if available) financial statement of the 
proposing entity which includes a balance sheet, a three-year statement of 
past income, and a projected one-year income statement for the current fiscal 
year for the Proposer (and its parent entity if it is a subsidiary).  If the proposing 
entity is to be created specifically for the intended project or if the proposing 
entity is less than three years old, then each partner or stockholder must 
submit its own financial statement as described above.  Tax returns may be 
substituted for financial statements.  Information regarding any legal or 
administrative actions, past or pending, that might impact the capacity of the 
Proposer (or its principals or affiliates) to complete the project must be 
disclosed. Disclosure of any bankruptcies and legal actions by any of the 
above or related entities during the past ten years must be made with the 
RFP. The CRA reserves the right to conduct a background check and credit 
check on prospective bidders and their partners. 

 
10. The CRA will require a buy-back provision to be negotiated as part of the final 

contract in the event the purchaser fails to complete its obligations for the 
commencement of the project within three (3) years from execution of the 
contract or an agreed upon time. 

 
11. The Proposer must submit the number of parking spaces their project intends to 

provide and the extent to which the spaces might be available to the public, 
either during peak hours and/or off-peak hours.  If public parking will be 
constructed, then the proposal should state the terms and conditions that are 
expected of the County or CRA, including financial participation, parking 
management or other issues. 

 
12. The CRA will not consider any proposals that would seek ad valorem tax exempt 

status from any taxing authorities at any time for either part or for the whole of 
the intended project; however, a TIF rebate can be negotiated. 

 

38



 
 

  
 Page | 8  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

K. Selection Criteria 
 

 Factors that the CRA will use in evaluating proposals include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 

 
1. The qualifications (previous experience and capabilities) and financial capacities 

of the Proposer as they would indicate its ability to complete the project.  
Public/private partnership is encouraged. 

 
2. The prospects for market and financial feasibility of the proposed project. 

 
3. The level of commitment of financing sources. 

 
4. The potential tax revenues generated by the project. 

 
5. The number of quality, workforce housing units that will be provided.  

 
6. The extent to which the project includes an outreach to the surrounding 

neighborhood in terms of small business development and employment 
opportunities.  

 
7. The number of parking spaces created and their availability for public use. 

  
8. The extent to which the mix of the proposed land uses supports the other land 

uses in the commercial corridor within the redevelopment area. 
 

9. The quality of site planning and building design proposed for the project. 
 

10. Use of minority/women owned businesses as subcontractors or minority/women 
controlled partnerships in the development process.    

 
L. Proposals and Disposition Process 

 
 Sealed proposals must be filed with the Westgate CRA at its offices located at 1280 

N. Congress Avenue, Suite 215, West Palm Beach, Florida 33409, no later than 
Thursday, March 23, 2023 @ 2:00pm (EST). CRA staff will open the proposals after 
that time and review them for compliance with submission requirements.  The CRA 
will establish a Review Committee to review and rank all qualified proposals in 
accordance with the selection criteria listed in Paragraph K and the redevelopment 
philosophy of the CRA.   

 

39



 
 

  
 Page | 9  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

 Up to three of the top ranked Proposers will be invited to make a presentation at a 
public meeting to the Westgate CRA Board.  The Board will select the top ranking 
proposal in April 2023.  Final land conveyance shall be approved by the Palm Beach 
County Board of County Commissioners. 

 
 The CRA reserves the right to negotiate such terms and conditions with the 

successful Proposer as it deems in the public interest.  In the event a contract is not 
negotiated to the CRA’s satisfaction, the CRA may abandon such negotiation, and if 
it determines it appropriate, to then commence negotiations with the next ranked 
Proposer. All Proposers should be familiar with the requirements of Florida Statutes 
Chapter 163.380 to which this Request for Proposal is subject. 

 
 Proposals entered into this RFP process shall be considered irrevocable until after a 

Proposer selected to enter into contract with the Westgate CRA. Withdrawal during 
this period or a failure to participate in the requirements of the bid process shall result 
in a forfeiture of the bid deposit. 

 
M.  Minimum Offer 

 
 Any offers for less than appraised or fair market value must indicate the value of 

other amenities provided for the public, such as parking and/or open space, as well 
as, stating the specific benefits the proposed project would bring to the surrounding 
area.  

 
N. Right to Withdraw 

 
 Chapter 163.380 requires that once a contract is negotiated, the same must be filed 

with Palm Beach County Clerk with the Notice of Intent to award such contract thirty 
(30) days prior to the execution of such contract.  The CRA specifically reserves the 
right to refrain from awarding a contract for the sale of any or all of the subject 
property to any person and to withdraw from the process and/or negotiations at any 
time at its sole discretion.  The CRA reserves the right to enter into a contract with 
any of the Proposers on the basis of the impact on redevelopment by the proposed 
project in the CRA’s sole discretion and not necessarily to the Proposer offering the 
highest purchase price.  The CRA expressly reserves the right to obtain economic 
feasibility studies and parking studies with regard to any or all of the subject 
proposals. 

 
O. Site Visits 

 

40



 
 

  
 Page | 10  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

 Any interested party may visit the site at any time.  Please call or email CRA office 
at (561) 640-8181 or dpennell@pbcgov.org for an appointment. 

 
P. Interpretations 

 
 Questions and inquiries concerning the proposal and specifications of the solicitation 

shall be submitted in writing and directed to Ms. Denise Pennell, Senior 
Planner/Project Manager, Westgate CRA, 1280 N Congress Avenue, Suite 215, 
West Palm Beach, FL  33409 or at dpennell@pbcgov.org. Such questions and 
inquiries must be received no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the date set 
for receiving proposals. Oral explanations, information and instructions shall not be 
considered binding on the CRA. All prospective Proposers are encouraged to 
independently verify the accuracy of any information provided.  Neither the CRA nor 
any of its agents or employees shall be responsible for the accuracy of any oral 
information provided to any Proposer. 

 
Q. Pre-submittal Meeting 

 
 There will not be a pre-submittal meeting. 

 
R. Registration and Addenda 

 
 All interested parties must register their name, email address, business address and 

telephone number at the CRA office in order to receive any changes, additions, 
addendums or other notices concerning the RFP.  A registration form will be supplied 
in the office of the CRA. 

 
S. Westgate CRA Offices 

 
 The Westgate/Belvedere Homes Community Redevelopment Agency is located at 

1280 N. Congress Avenue Suite 215, West Palm Beach, FL  33409. The telephone 
number is (561) 640-8181.  

41

mailto:dpennell@pbcgov.org
mailto:dpennell@pbcgov.org


 
 

  
 Page | 11  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

IV. AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
 
To whom it may concern: 
 
The undersigned hereby authorizes you to release to the Westgate/Belvedere Homes 
Community Redevelopment Agency (“Westgate CRA”) any information in your possession 
regarding the undersigned either of a professional credit or personal nature including the 
statement of your opinions with regard to the undersigned’s professional credit and personal 
character. 
 

By: _____________________________   
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF PALM BEACH 
 
THE FOREGOING INSTRUMENT was acknowledged before me this           day of                    , 
2023, by                                                                   , who is personally known to me or who has 
respectively produced                                                                                as identification and 
did not take an oath. 
 

Notary Public: __________________________ 

 _____________________________________________________________________  

Print Name: ___________________________ 

 _____________________________________________________________________  

Commission No.: _______________________  

 (SEAL) My Commission Expires: _________________  

  
 
Name:  _______________________________  

Home Address:  _______________________________  

Home Telephone Number:  _______________________________ 

 _______________________________   

Business Telephone Number:  _______________________________  

Social Security Number:  _______________________________   

Date of Birth:  _______________________________   

Professional License Number:  _______________________________   

42



 
 

  
 Page | 12  

Westgate-Cherokee RFP 
February 13, 2023  

 

V.   RFP ANTICIPATED SCHEDULE 
 
 

 RFP Issuance Date:       February 23, 2023 
 
 
RFP Response Deadline:      March 23, 2023 
 
 
Review, rank, and selection of top respondents by 
Review Committee no later than:     April 3, 2023 
 
Presentations and selection made by top respondents  
to CRA Board:        April 10, 2023 
 
 
Note: Dates above are subject to change. Registered respondents will be notified by email 
of changes, if any. 

 
 
  

43



 

LOCATION MAP 

 

 

C1 C2 

C3 

N1
 

N2 

44



45



46



47



48



49



50



N:\ROADWAY\AGENDA ITEMS PENDING (& DRAFTS)\2023\03-14-23\3-C-TBD 2019601 Westgate 
CEI\2019601 Westgate CEI AIS 1 20 23.pdf.docx 

Agenda Item is over 50 pages; may be            Agenda Item #: 3-C- 
viewed in the Minutes Department      
  

PALM BEACH COUNTY 
 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 

Meeting Date:  March 14, 2023          [X] Consent  [   ] Regular 
      [   ] Workshop  [   ] Public Hearing 
 
Department:  Engineering & Public Works Department 
Submitted By: Engineering & Public Works Department 
Submitted For: Roadway Production Division 

 
 I.  EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
 
Motion and Title: Staff recommends motion to approve:  Consultant Service Authorization 
(CSA) No. 4 to the Annual Construction Engineering Inspection (CEI) Services Contract (R2021-
0882) dated July 13, 2021 (Contract) with Mehta and Associates, Inc. (MAI) in the amount of 
$676,033.50 for the Westgate Avenue from Wabasso Drive to Congress Avenue (Project). 
 
SUMMARY:  Approval of this CSA will provide the professional services necessary for CEI 
services during construction.  The Affirmative Procurement Initiative selected for this Contract on 
November 6, 2019 by the Goal Setting Committee are a 20% minimum mandatory Small Business 
Enterprise (SBE) participation and a SBE evaluation preference.  MAI agreed to 20% SBE 
participation for the Contract.  They agreed to 20.51% SBE participation for this CSA. Prior to 
this meeting date, approximately $*** has been encumbered under this Contract.  This Project is 
included in the Five-Year Road Program and the infrastructure sales tax.  District 7  (YBH) 
 
Background and Justification: On July 13, 2021, the Board of County Commissioners (BCC) 
approved the Contract with MAI to provide the professional services for CEI services throughout 
the County. The fee, as detailed in Exhibit B of the attached CSA, has been negotiated as just and 
reasonable compensation as follows: 
 
Basic Services (Lump Sum)               $676,033.50  (CEI) 
Reimbursable Services (Not to Exceed) $          0.00       
Optional Services (Not to Exceed)               $          0.00     
       Total:   $676,033.50 
 
After reviewing the attached CSA and finding it in proper order, the Engineering Department 
recommends BCC approval. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Location Map 
2. CSA No. 4 with Exhibits A, B, C, D & Ebix Insurance Compliance (2) 

 
 
Recommended by: ______________________________________________________________ 
     County Engineer    Date 
 
Approved By: __________________________________________________________________     
               Assistant County Administrator   Date 

  

51



N:\ROADWAY\AGENDA ITEMS PENDING (& DRAFTS)\2023\03-14-23\3-C-TBD 2019601 Westgate 
CEI\2019601 Westgate CEI AIS 1 20 23.pdf.docx 

ATTACHMENT 1 

PROJECT LOCATION 

WESTGATE AVENUE  

FROM WABASSO DRIVE TO CONGRESS AVENUE 

PROJECT NUMBER 2019601 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LOCATION MAP 

Begin Project 

End Project 

N 

52



CONSULTANT SERVICE AUTHORIZATION NO. 4 
UNDER THE ANNUAL CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERINIG  

INSPECTION (CEI) SERVICES CONTRACT 
 

CSA #4 Page 1 of 3 Project #2019601 

Project Name: Westgate Avenue from Wabasso Drive to Congress Avenue 

Project No: 2019601                          Commission District No.: 7 

 

SBE Participation for this authorization is 21.51%  

SBE Participation to date for this CSA is 21.51% 

SBE Commitment is 20% 

This authorization is under the EBO Ordinance. 

 

PALM BEACH COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS      Account No.: 3900-361-1950-8101/9643 
 

Consultant Service Authorization No. 4 (CSA) to the Annual Construction Engineering Inspection 
(CEI) Services Contract dated July 13, 2021, (R2021-0882) (CONTRACT), between the 
COUNTY and the CONSULTANT identified herein is for the services described in EXHIBIT A 
and EXHIBIT B for this CSA. 

 

1. CONSULTANT: Mehta and Associates, Inc. 

2. Address: One Purlieu Place, Suite 100, Winter Park, FL 32792 

3. CONSULTANT shall begin work promptly on the requested Services, per the schedule attached 
as part of EXHIBIT A. 

4. Scope of Services to be provided by CONSULTANT: Provide professional engineering services 
to Palm Beach County for the Westgate Avenue from Wabasso Drive to Congress Avenue 
project.  Provide CEI services during construction in accordance with the attached EXHIBIT 
A dated February 21, 2022. 

5. The compensation to be paid CONSULTANT for providing the requested services as detailed 
in EXHIBIT B shall be: 

[x]  Basic Services in a lump sum fee of  $676,033.50 
[  ]  Reimbursable Expenses capped at  $           0.00 
[  ]  Optional Services capped at  $           0.00 
         Totaling    $676,033.50 
 
[x] OEBO Schedules 1 & 2 EXHIBIT C 
[x]  Project History EXHIBIT D 

6. All terms of the CONTRACT shall apply to this CSA. 
 

  

53



CONSULTANT SERVICE AUTHORIZATION NO. 4 
UNDER THE ANNUAL CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERINIG  

INSPECTION (CEI) SERVICES CONTRACT 
 

CSA #4 Page 2 of 3 Project #2019601 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this CSA is accepted as of the date signed by the COUNTY below, 
subject to the terms and conditions of the aforementioned CONTRACT. 
 

CONSULTANT: Mehta and Associates, Inc. 
Federal ID: 59-2827930 
 

Signed: _____________________________  

Typed Name: Vipin C. Mehta, P.E. 

Title: President 

Date: _______________________________  

 

                      (Corporate Seal) 

 

ATTEST WITNESS: 

 

Signed: _____________________________ 

 

Typed Name: ________________________  

 

Title: _______________________________  

 

Date: _______________________________  

Approved as to Terms and Conditions 

 

By: ________________________________ 

Typed Name: Morton L. Rose, P.E. 

Title: Division Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

54



CONSULTANT SERVICE AUTHORIZATION NO. 4 
UNDER THE ANNUAL CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERINIG  

INSPECTION (CEI) SERVICES CONTRACT 
 

CSA #4 Page 3 of 3 Project #2019601 

{SIGNATURE PAGES CONTINUED} 
 
             
COUNTY: Palm Beach County, a Political  
Subdivision of the State of Florida, by and  
through its Board of County Commissioners 
 

 

Signed: _____________________________                    

Typed Name: Gregg K. Weiss 

Title: Mayor 

Date:           

 

ATTEST: 
Joseph Abruzzo 
Clerk of the Circuit Court & Comptroller 
 
 
By:        
 Deputy Clerk 
 

 

Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency 

By: ________________________________ 

Typed Name: Yelizaveta B. Herman 

Title: Assistant County Attorney 

 
 
 
F:\ROADWAY\CCNA\ANNUALS\CEI\Mehta\2019\2019601 Westgate Ave\2019601 CSA.docx 

55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



PROJECT HISTORY Exhibit D

Authorization Supplement Date Approved Total Amount SBE Amount SBE %

BCC Original CSA Pending  $               676,033.50  $                138,720.00 20.51%

 $         676,033.50  $          138,720.00 20.51%Project Totals

Westgate Avenue from Wabasso Drive to Congress Avenue

Project #2019601

1/13/2023 11:11 AM Page 1 of 1 F:\ROADWAY\CCNA\ANNUALS\CEI\Mehta\2019\2019601 Westgate Ave\Project History70



 
 
 

 
 
January 25, 2023 
 
Elizee Michel 
Executive Director 
Westgate Belvedere Homes CRA 
1280 N. Congress Avenue, Suite 215 
West Palm Beach, FL 33409 
 
 
RE:  WESTGATE AVENUE FROM WABASSO DRIVE TO 

CONGRESS AVENUE – FEDERALIZED 
  LAP GRANT ISSUES RESULTING FROM CRA 

FUNDING DELAY 
  PROJECT NO. 2019601 - FDOT FM #444371-1-58-01 
 
Dear Mr. Michel: 
 
Pam Beach County’s Roadway Production Division has met and 

coordinated with the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) for the 
readvertisement, bidding and construction of the referenced project.  
Initially the County advertised the project for bid on 2/20/22. We 
anticipated receiving bids in late March 2022 and awarding the construction 
contract prior to the 6/27/22 deadline.  This bid was cancelled because the 
CRA informed the County that they were not able to provide the project 
funding needed to execute the construction contract. 
 
This letter serves to advise you that the FDOT has notified us that they will 
not delay the grant schedule to incorporate the time that the CRA took to 
acquire all of the necessary project funding.  This means the project will 
show as late per the established grant schedule below. 
 

1/25/22   Notice to Proceed Letter from FDOT 
2/24/22   Deadline to Advertise 
6/27/22   Deadline to Award 
10/31/22 1st Invoice Deadline 
12/31/23 LAP Grant Expiration Date 

 
The CRA notified the County that funding had been acquired in November 
2022 and the County began the necessary coordination with FDOT and the 
TPA. As a result, the following is now the projected schedule to advertise, 

71



72



January 25, 2023 
 
Re: WESTGATE AVENUE FROM WABASSO DRIVE TO 
CONGRESS AVENUE – FEDERALIZED 
LAP GRANT ISSUES RESULTING FROM CRA FUNDING DELAY 
 

N:\ROADWAY\PRO\2019\2019601 Westgate Ave from Wabasso Dr to Congress 
Ave\0 - Grant Agreement and ILA\2019601 Funding Status Update.docx  

Holly B. Knight, P.E., Contracts Mgr, Roadway Prod. Div., Eng. & Public Works 
Maroun Azzi, P.E., Thoroughfare Rd Mgr, Rdwy Prod. Div., Eng. & Public Works 
Melissa Hagen, Technical Assistant II, Roadway Prod. Div., Eng. & Public Works 
Tiffany Thomas, Office of the Inspector General 
Yelizaveta B. Herman, Assistant County Attorney 
Fay Reynolds, Legal Secretary, County Attorney 

   

73



 

Florida Department of Transportation 
RON DESANTIS 

GOVERNOR 
3400 West Commercial Boulevard 

Fort Lauderdale, FL  33309 
KEVIN J. THIBAULT, P.E. 

SECRETARY 

 

Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 
www.fdot.gov 

 

Holly Knight, P.E. 
Palm Beach County 
2300 North Jog Road 
West Palm Beach, FL 33411 

 
SUBJECT:  NOTICE TO PROCEED FOR CONSTRUCTION 

 

   FM No.:   444371-1-58-01 
   County:   Palm Beach   
   Contract No.:  G2543 

Description:  Westgate Avenue from Wabasso Drive to Congress Avenue 
   Agency:  Palm Beach County  
   Project Class:  D  
 
Dear Ms. Knight: 
 
The Local Agency (Palm Beach County) is hereby given Notice to Proceed (NTP) for Construction activities for 
the subject project.  Please move forward with procuring a contractor for construction.  The total amount of federal 
funds authorized for construction is $2,324,351.00. 
 
Please note that this NTP is valid for thirty (30) days from date of issuance. Local Agencies are required to 
advertise a project within 30 days of the NTP date per the terms of the LAP Agreement (7B).  This project must 
be advertised within thirty (30) days of this NTP. If not advertised within thirty (30) days, this NTP will be voided 
and reissued upon approval of Local Agency justification.  
 
Once advertised, the Local Agency must award to a contractor within Ninety (90) days of the bid opening date.  
If an addendum is necessary during the advertisement period, the Local Agency must submit the addendum for 
review and concurrence prior to publication.  
 
As a reminder, prior to awarding to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder/contractor, the Local Agency 
must receive bid concurrence from the Department. Negotiations with contractors are not permitted during the 
advertisement, award, or execution period of the contracting process. Once the contract between the 
bidder/contractor and the Local Agency has been executed, the Local Agency is to create the contract screen in 
Grant Management System (GAP) and upload the executed contract. This is to be done prior to scheduling the 
pre-construction meeting.  
 
Please provide a notice of the preconstruction meeting to:  Ms. Deborah Ihsan, FDOT District Four Construction 
Office, 3400 West Commercial Boulevard, Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309-3421, and Mr. Ramon E. Alvarez.  
 
In order to be eligible for federal reimbursement by the Department, the Local Agency must comply with all 
applicable procedures, standards, and directives as described in the Department’s Local Agency Program 
Manual.  All changes must be submitted to the District in writing for approval prior to implementation. 
 
For reimbursement from the Department, all Local Agency invoice/reimbursement request package with 
supporting documentation are to be uploaded into our GAP System and an email stating that the invoice has 

CFDA #20.205 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C9E03821-14BE-49F2-9D1C-0335B824AE4E

1/25/2022 | 1:34 PM EST

74



Page 2 of 2 
FM# 444371-1-58-01 

Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 
www.fdot.gov 

 

been submitted to D4-localprograminvoices@dot.state.fl.us for Local Program review and processing. 
Progressive invoicing is REQUIRED; it is the Local Agency’s responsibility to ensure the contractor/consultant is 
invoicing, and the Local Agency, in turn, is invoicing the Department, preferably monthly but at least on a quarterly 
basis.  
 
This project was authorized by the Federal Highway Administration in January 2022.  The Department expects 
to receive invoicing materials by October 2022. Should billing not occur, FHWA may consider the project inactive 
and could move toward de-obligating the funding. 
 
Please be advised that this contract will expire on December 31, 2023 and any costs incurred after the contract 
expiration date are not eligible for reimbursement.  If you anticipate the project will not be completed prior to the 
expiration date, a request for a time extension will need to be submitted to the Department for consideration. This 
request needs to be submitted a minimum of ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date. 
 
Each year during the life of the project, please provide the Department a copy of the Agency Audit Report. Send 
this report directly to the following address as referenced in page 6 of the LAP agreement. 
 
Florida Department of Transportation 
Office of Comptroller, MS 24 
605 Suwannee Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0405 
Email:  FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us 
 
After the project is completed, please provide a signed original copy of the Final Inspection and Acceptance of 
Federal-Aid Project, Form 700-010-32 and Material Certification Letter as shown in the LAP Manual Chapter 
23.  Send this information to Mr. James Lewis, FDOT District 4 Palm Beach Operations Office, 7900 Forest Hill 
Blvd., West Palm Beach, FL 33413. 

In compliance with Chapter 2 of the LAP Manual, Section 2.6 Performance Management, your Agency’s 
performance on this project will be rated on several aspects, as shown on form No. 525-010-50 Local Agency 
Program Performance Evaluation. 
 
Should you have any questions, please call Ramon E. Alvarez, LAP Program Coordinator, at (954) 777-4403 or 
email at Ramon.Alvarez@dot.state.fl.us. 
 
        Sincerely, 

 
 
Mya Gray 

        Local Program Administrator 
Florida Department of Transportation 
District Four 

cc: David Young – Palm Beach County 

 Deborah Ihsan / Stacy Sasala – FDOT Construction 
 Michael Miller – FDOT Construction 

Ronald Arcalas – FDOT Materials Lab 
Rob Cables / James Lewis – FDOT Operations 
Alexis Burrie – FDOT Operations 
D4 Work Program - FDOT 
Financial Services - FDOT 
File      

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C9E03821-14BE-49F2-9D1C-0335B824AE4E

75



76



Page 2 of 2 
FM# 444371-1-58-01 

Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 
www.fdot.gov 

 

been submitted to D4-localprograminvoices@dot.state.fl.us for Local Program review and processing. 
Progressive invoicing is REQUIRED; it is the Local Agency’s responsibility to ensure the contractor/consultant is 
invoicing, and the Local Agency, in turn, is invoicing the Department, preferably monthly but at least on a quarterly 
basis.  
 
This project was authorized by the Federal Highway Administration in January 2022.  The Department expects 
to receive invoicing materials by October 2022. Should billing not occur, FHWA may consider the project inactive 
and could move toward de-obligating the funding. 
 
Please be advised that this contract will expire on December 31, 2023 and any costs incurred after the contract 
expiration date are not eligible for reimbursement.  If you anticipate the project will not be completed prior to the 
expiration date, a request for a time extension will need to be submitted to the Department for consideration. This 
request needs to be submitted a minimum of ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date. 
 
Each year during the life of the project, please provide the Department a copy of the Agency Audit Report. Send 
this report directly to the following address as referenced in page 6 of the LAP agreement. 
 
Florida Department of Transportation 
Office of Comptroller, MS 24 
605 Suwannee Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0405 
Email:  FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us 
 
After the project is completed, please provide a signed original copy of the Final Inspection and Acceptance of 
Federal-Aid Project, Form 700-010-32 and Material Certification Letter as shown in the LAP Manual Chapter 
23.  Send this information to Mr. James Lewis, FDOT District 4 Palm Beach Operations Office, 7900 Forest Hill 
Blvd., West Palm Beach, FL 33413. 

In compliance with Chapter 2 of the LAP Manual, Section 2.6 Performance Management, your Agency’s 
performance on this project will be rated on several aspects, as shown on form No. 525-010-50 Local Agency 
Program Performance Evaluation. 
 
Should you have any questions, please call Ramon E. Alvarez, LAP Program Coordinator, at (954) 777-4403 or 
email at Ramon.Alvarez@dot.state.fl.us. 
 
        Sincerely, 

 
 
Mya Gray 

        Local Program Administrator 
Florida Department of Transportation 
District Four 

cc: David Young – Palm Beach County 

 Deborah Ihsan / Stacy Sasala – FDOT Construction 
 Michael Miller – FDOT Construction 

Ronald Arcalas – FDOT Materials Lab 
Rob Cables / James Lewis – FDOT Operations 
Alexis Burrie – FDOT Operations 
D4 Work Program - FDOT 
Financial Services - FDOT 
File      

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C9E03821-14BE-49F2-9D1C-0335B824AE4E

77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



Please Sign In and use this article's on page print button to print this article.

COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE

Westgate/Belvedere Homes CRA
could partner with developer for
mixed-use project

The Westgate/Belvedere CRA
would partner with Danza of
Westgate LLC to build a mixed-use
project in Palm Beach County.

PALM BEACH COUNTY RECORDS

 Listen to this article     2 min 

The Westgate/Belvedere Homes Community
Redevelopment Agency (CRA) could partner with a

developer to build a mixed-use project about 10 blocks
north of Palm Beach International Airport.



IN THIS ARTICLE

Construction
Topic

Charles Lesnick
Person

Elizee Michel
Person

Aaron M. Taylor
Person

By Brian Bandell
Real Estate Editor, South Florida Business Journal
Jan 31, 2023

89

https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/news/commercial-real-estate/
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/topic/construction
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/search?q=Charles%20Lesnick
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/search?q=Elizee%20Michel
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/search?q=Aaron%20M.%20Taylor
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/bio/7461/Brian+Bandell
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/bio/7461/Brian+Bandell


The Westgate Plaza project in Palm
Beach County.

WESTGATE/BELVEDERE CRA

The Palm Beach County Zoning Commission will
consider plans for Westgate Terrace on Feb. 2. It would be

located on the vacant site of two acres at the southeast
corner of Westgate Avenue and Seminole Boulevard. The
CRA owns six of the seven parcels there. The remaining
parcel at 2634 Westgate Ave. is owned by Danza of

Westgate LLC, managed by Charles Lesnick in
Wellington.

“The CRA wants to redevelop the

Westgate Avenue corridor by cleaning
vacant lots [and] demolishing dilapidated buildings to
create a safer and more vibrant area where people can

live and work,” said Elizee Michel, executive director of
the CRA. “It is a mixed-use mixed-income proposal that
provides office space, workforce housing and modern
architecture to lift up the area economically and

esthetically.”

Rising four stories, Westgate Terrace would feature 46
apartments, a 5,600-square-foot office for the CRA and

5,015 square feet of medical offices. Michel said that
would include 10 apartments for workforce housing, with
two of them set aside for disabled veterans.

“The developers are currently working on financing the

construction,” Michel said. “Depending on the amount of
government funding they receive, the majority of the
units will either be affordable or workforce housing. The

units, even if they are not all income restricted, will be
made affordable to middle-class earners to help address
the shortage of affordable housing in Palm Beach
County.”



90

https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/search/results?q=Charles%20Lesnick
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/search/results?q=Elizee%20Michel


The developer is seeking a waiver to allow an entrance
into the project from Nokomis Avenue with a 40-foot

right-of-way, instead of 80 feet as required by county
code. Aaron M. Taylor of Belle Glade-based Arc
Development Global represents the CRA and the
developer in the application.

Sign up here for the Business Journal’s free morning and
afternoon daily newsletters to receive the latest business
news impacting South Florida. For more business
intelligence, follow us
on LinkedIn, Facebook, Twitter and Instagram.

Engineering Firms in South Florida
Ranked by S. Fla. engineers, ties broken by S. Fla employees

1 Kimley-Horn and
Associates

117

2 Stantec 100

3 BCC Engineering 72

Rank Company
S. Fla. Engineers, Ties Broken By S.
Fla Employees

View This List

RELATED CONTENT

Crane Watch map expanded to Miami Beach, 52
development projects added

Meet the 2023 Power Leaders 250 – Part 3

9-story apartment tower proposed near Aventura (Photos)

Waterfront spec mansion sold for $15M (Photos)

Stalled mixed-use development could advance with new
builder

91

https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/search/results?q=Aaron%20M.%20Taylor
https://www.bizjournals.com/account/southflorida/newsletters
https://www.linkedin.com/company/south-florida-business-journal/
https://www.facebook.com/SFlaBizJournal/
https://twitter.com/sfbjnews
https://www.instagram.com/sfbjnews/
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/subscriber-only/2022/02/04/engineering-firms-in-south-florida.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/subscriber-only/2022/02/04/engineering-firms-in-south-florida.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/news/2018/03/12/crane-watch-map-expanded-to-miami-beach.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/news/2023/01/31/meet-the-2023-power-leaders-250-part-3.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/news/2023/01/26/bh-group-secures-miami-dade-development-site.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/news/2023/01/31/golden-beach-spec-mansion-sold-for-15m-photos.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/news/2023/01/20/stalled-mixed-use-development-could-advance-with-n.html



